IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, EX REL.
MOISEY TEYTELBOYM, PH.D,,

PLAINTIFF,

M.L. ENERGIA, INC. and MOSHE LAVID,

PH.D.,
DEFENDANTS.

FILED UNDER SEAL

As Required By
31 US.C. § 3730(b)(2)

Civ. Action No. 00-4010 (DMC)

FIRST AMENDED
COMPLAINT AND DEMAND

FOR JURY TRIAL

Relator-Plaintiff Moisey Teytelboym, Ph.d. ("Relator Teytelboym"), through his

attorneys, files this Complaint and Demand For Jury Trial under seal against Defendants M.L.

Energia, Inc. and Moshe Lavid, Ph.d., (referred to herein collectively as "Defendants"), and

alleges as follows:
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I NATURE ACTION

1. Relator Teytelboym brings this action on behalf of the United States against
Defendants for treble damages and civil penalties arising from the Defendants' violations of the
Federal Civil False Claims Act, Title 31, United States Code, Section § 3729, et seq. (the "False
Claims Act" or "FCA™).

2. In connection with the application and receipt of federal grants, primarily under
the Small Business Innovation Research Program ("SBIR Program™), Defendants (a) knowingly
presented, and caused to be presented, to an officer and employee of the United States
Government false and fraudulent claims for payment and approval; (b) knowiﬁgly made, used,
and caused to be made and used, false records and statements to get false and fraudulent claims
paid and approved by the Government; and (c) conspired to defraud the Government by getting
false and fraudulent claims allowed or paid, in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections
3729(a)(1), (2) and (3).

3. More specifically, this action arises from Defendants efforts to obtain Government
Contracts and SBIR funding unlawfully for Defendant M.L. Energia, Inc. ("Energia") through
false and fraudulent claims and statements to various federal agencies. Such false and fraudulent
claims and statements concern, among other things: Energia’s duplication and resale of research
among federal agencies, the commercial viability of Energia's technology and products, the
identities of the people or entities actually performing work under SBIR contracts awarded to

Energia, and Energia’s expenditure of funds associated with government contracts, as more fully

alleged in Section VII below.
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I1. JURISDICTION

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims alleged in this
Complaint under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 (Federal question), 1345 (United States as plaintiff) and 31
U.S.C. § 3732(a) (False Claims Act).

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants named in the Complaint
pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), because at least one of the Defendants can be found, resides,
and transacts business in the District of New Jersey and because an act proscribed by 31 U.S.C. §
3729 occurred within this District. Section 3732(a) further provides for nationwide service of
process.

6. This action is not junsdictionally precluded by the False Claims Act’s public
disclosure bar, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4). Upon information and belief, there has been no “public
disclosure” of the matters alleged herein and this action is not “based upon” any such disclosure.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, through his employment with Defendant Energia and his
interactions with various individual defendants and other persons, Relator Teytelboym has
“direct and independent knowledge” of the instant allegations. Additionally, Relator Teytelboym
has “volutarily provided,” and offered to provide, this information to the Government prior to
the filing of this complaint. Therefore, to the extent any of these allegations is deemed to have
been based upon a public disclosure, Relator Teytelboym is an “original source” of this
information within the meaning of the False Claims Act and is expressly excepted from its public

disclosure bar.
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II. VENUE

7. Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey, under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c),
and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), because (a) the Defendants resides in this District, (b) a substantial part
of the events or omissions giving rise to the violations of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 alleged in the
Complaint occurred in this District, and (c) because at least one of the Defendants can be found

and transacts business within this District.

IV. PERSONS AND ENTITIES

8. The United States is the real party in interest plaintiff in this action. It provides
the funding for, and regulates and administers, the SBIR Program, which 1s described in greater
detail in Section VI below.

9. Relator Teytelboym is a resident of the State of New Jersey. He holds a doctorate
degree in chemistry and has been employed as a senior scientist by Defendant Energia since in or
about 1994,

10. Defendant Energia is a privately owned research and consulting laboratory
performing advanced research and development contracts. It was founded in or about 1982 and
1s located in Plainsboro, New Jersey. Emnergia has entered into numerous contracts with various
agencies of the United States, primarily through the SBIR Program.

11. Defendant Moshe Lavid, Ph.d., (“Defendant Moshe Lavid”), is a resident of New
Jersey. He is the President of Energia and is its nominal Principal Investigator (or “PI””) on all
Energia SBIR proposals and projects. Upon information and belief, Defendant Moshe Lavid has

operated and managed Energia since its inception. Defendant Moshe Lavid is a signatory on
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Energia’s SBIR proposals (as the Principal Investigator) and on other documents relevant to this
action.

12.  Nira Lavid is the wife of Defendant Moshe Lavid (they are sometimes referred to
jointly in this complaint as the "Lavids"). She is the Vice President of Finance & Administration
for Energia and is its nominal owner: to obtain favorable grant decisions, the Lavids routinely
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certify on SBIR proposals that Energia is a “woman-owned small business.” Nira Lavid is a
signatory on Energia’s SBIR proposals (as the Corporate/Business Official) and on other
documents relevant to this action.

13. Roper Scientific, Inc., is a manufacturer of electro-optic instruments for scientific
and industrial applications, located in Trenton, New Jersey. Upon information and belief, in or
about 1998, Roper acquired Princeton Instruments, Inc., a manufacturer and developer of CCD
cameras used for scientific and industrial applications also located in Trenton, New Jersey. Upon
information and belief, Princeton Instruments is now a division of Roper.

14. In or about 1997, Yair Talou (“Talmi”) was the President of Princeton
Instruments. Upon information and belief, Talmi was a friend of Defendant Moshe Lavid. Upon
further information and belief, Princeton Instruments was not involved in the scientific field
related to a particular National Science Foundation contract awarded to Energia (number DMI-
9704053) and had no genuine business interest in any technology or products produced under it.
Nevertheless, in or about March 1997, Talmi caused Princeton Instrument to submit a Follow-on
Funding Commitment (“FCC”) letter to NSF concerning contract DMI-9704053. The FCC letter
purported to offer post-SBIR funding to Energia and was intended to persuade the NSF of the

commercial viability of Energia’s efforts under this SBIR project.
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I5. Rutgers, The State University ("Rutgers") was created by New Jersey statute in
1956 as a corporation that "is the instrumentality of the state [of New Jersey] for the purpose of
operating the state university." NJSA 18A:65-2. Rutgers' primary purpose is the provision of
higher education. NJSA 18A:65-2. Rutgers receives funding from at least three sources other
than state appropriations. Upon information and belief, a judgment against Rutgers can be paid
from non-state funds under Rutgers' discretionary control. Rutgers is largely autonomous and
subject only to minimal state supervision and control. Rutgers is not an "arm", or "alter ego”, of

the State of New Jersey. Kovats v. Rutgers, 822 F.2d 1303 (3d Cir. 1987). Accordingly, Rutgers

is a "person" subject to liability under the False Claims Act.

16. Hennk Pedersen, Ph.d., (“Professor Pedersen”), is a Professor of Chemuical and
Biochemical Engineering at Rutgers, and is the Director of its Biotechnology Training Program
("BTP").

17. Princeton University ("Princeton"), located in Princeton, New Jersey, is a private
university with both undergraduate and graduate programs. It was chartered in 1746 as the
College of New Jersey and was officially renamed Princeton University in honor of its host
community.

18. Richard B. Professor Miles, Ph.d., (“Professor Miles”), is a Professor of
Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering at Princeton and is head of his Department’s Lasers and
Applied Physics Group.

19. Upon information and belief, defendant Moshe Lavid is fully familiar with the

rules and regulations governing the SBIR Program.
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V. FALSE CLAIMS ACT
20.  The False Claims Act provides, in pertinent part, that:

(a) Any person who...(1) knowingly presents, or causes to be
presented, to an officer or employee of the United States Government...a
false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; (2) knowingly makes,
uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement to get a
false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government; [or] (3)
conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or fraudulent claim
allowed or paid;. ..

e sksk

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not
less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000, plus 3 times the amount of
damages which the Government sustains because of the act of that
person....

(b) For purposes of this section, the terms "knowing" and
"knowingly" mean that a person, with respect to information...(1) has
actual knowledge of the information; (2) acts in deliberate ignorance of the
truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard of the

truth or falsity of the mformation, and no proof of specific ntent to
defraud is required.

31 U.S.C. § 3729.
VI. THE SBIR PROGRAM

21. The SBIR Program was established in 1982. Its purpose is to stimulate scientific
and technological innovation by private small businesses, increase small business participation in
meeting federal research and development needs, and promote the commercialization of federal
research and development. In short, the goal of the Program is to provide the Government with
new and cost effective solutions to complex scientific and technical problems while also
encouraging small businesses to market such technology in the private sector, thereby helping to

stimulate the U.S. economy. At the same time, the SBIR Program secks to foster participation in
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science and technology by socially and economically disadvantaged small business concems and
small businesses that are owned and controlled by women.

22. The SBIR Program was created by The Small Business Innovation Development
Act of 1982, Title 15, United States Code, Section 638 (the “Act of 1982”). The Act of 1982
establishes a system for channeling federal monies to for profit small businesses engaged in
scientific and/or engineering research or research and development. The goal is for these small
businesses to take seed money from the Government and develop useful technology that
ultimately can be sold by the small businesses in the market place for a significant profit.

23.  Under the Act of 1982, each executive agency with an extramural budget for
research or research and development (other than those within the Intelligence Community) must
establish and administer an independent SBIR Program. § 638(f). Under these separate
programs, each agency must distribute a mmimum percent of its extramural research budget
(currently not less than 2.5%) to small business concerns. Id.

24. The Act of 1982 further provides that each agency is to distribute SBIR funds to
small business concerns by unilaterally (1) determining suitable projects and research topics
within its SBIR program, (2) issuing smail business innovation research solicitations, (3)
receiving and evaluating proposals, and (4) awarding grants to qualified participants. § 638(g).
The actual payment of monies to an awardee is accomplished via a "funding agreement” between
the awarding agency and the small business. § 638(e)(3) and (g)(4)-(7). Among other things, the
funding agreement sets out a schedule for the distribution of funding, which is tied to certain the
achievement of certain performance Professor Milestones.

25. Each awarding agency promulgates its own set of SBIR regulations and

mstructions and distributes its own forms. Most, if not all, of these rules and documents are now
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available on the awarding agencies’ web sites. For example, the National Science Foundation
has issued Phase I Program Solicitation & Phase II Instructions, NSF 99-57 (the “NSF
Instructions’), available on the Internet at http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/1999/nsf9957/start. htm.

26.  The following ten federal agencies are required to set aside a portion of their
research and development budgets exclusively for SBIR contracts: the Departments of Defense,
Agriculture, Commerce, Education, Energy, Health and Human Services, and Transportation,
and the Environment Protection Agency, National Science Foundation, and National Aeronautics
and Space Administration.

27.  The SBIR Program is comprised of three distinct contract phases. Phase I
contracts determine the feasibility of new technology and are currently awarded in amounts up to
$100,000. They are awarded for research lasting nine months or less. Phase II contracts are
awarded only to successful Phase I participants and are based on Phase I results. Phase II
contracts are not only for continuing research on scientific and technical issues, but are also for
determining the potential commercial applications of new technology and products
(“commercialization”). Phase II contracts typically are for terms of approximately two years and

are currently awarded in amounts up to $750,000. Phase III involves private sector or non-SBIR

federal agency funding to patent, market, license, manufacture, or in other ways, commercialize

Phase 1II projects.

28. In prior years, the maximum values of Phase I and Phase II contracts were less
than the current amounts set forth above. Upon information and belief, Defendant Energia
usually sought the maximum amount available at the time it submitted its various proposals.

29. SBIR contracts are competitively awarded based on not only scientific and

technical merit but also potential commercialization. Panels of scientists and engineers evaluate



proposals. Among other things, in recommending the awarding of contracts these evaluators
consider the qualifications of the PI and key personnel, the soundness and technical merit of the
proposed approach, the potential commercial applications of the project and the likelihood that
the proposed research will fulfill the requirements of the topic or problem the awarding agency

sought to be addressed.

VII. DEFENDANTS' FALSE CLAIMS SCHEMES

30.  Upon information and belief, from as early as 1992, up to and including the filing
of this Complaint, Defendant Moshe Lavid, together at various times with the other named
defendants and others persons, engaged in a continuous scheme to defraud the SBIR Program
(and occasionally to obtain non-SBIR government contracts) through the submission of false
claims for payment and false statements in support of claims for payments. These false claims
and statements were in the form of false SBIR Proposals, reports, correspondence and oral

statements to awarding agencies and in false financial reports, correspondence and oral

statements to government auditors, as set forth below.

A. FALSE SBIR PROPOSALS AND REPORTS

Duplication Of Research

31. Ordinarily, the Government will not pay twice for the same research under the
SBIR Program.
32. Upon information and belief, all awarding agencies attempt to ensure that the

United States pays only once for particular research by instructing SBIR applicants that they can

not seek duplicate funding and by requiring applicants to either disclose duplicate projects or
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certify on their proposals that they have not duplicated, and are not intending to duplicate, the
proposed research for other federal agencies.

33.  For example, Part 9 of the NSF Instructions concerning Phase I proposals is
captioned “Equivalent or Overlapping Proposals To Other Federal Agency” and informs the
applicant that:

A firm may elect to submit proposals for essentially equivalent work under other
Federal program solicitations or may have received or expect to receive other
Federal awards for essentially equivalent work. In these cases, the proposer
MUST [bold, all caps in original] inform NSF of related proposals and awards
and must first certify on the Proposal Cover page whether the proposer (a) has
received Federal government awards for related work, or (b) has submitted
currently active proposals for similar work under other Federal government
program solicitations or intends to submit proposals for such work to other
agencies during 1999. For all such cases, the following information is required:

» The name, address and telephone contact of the sponsoring agency to which the
proposal was or will be submitted;

» Date(s) of proposal submission(s});

e Title, number, and date of Solicitation under which the proposal was submltted
or will be submitted;

» Title and performance period of the proposal; and

» Name and title of Principal Investigator (person-months (per year) (calendar-
months) devoted by any personnel on the equivalent or overlapping project who
overlap with PI and senior personnel on this proposal)

If no equivalent or overlapping proposals are under consideration, state none.

NSF will not make awards that essentially duplicate research funded (or expected
to be funded) by other agencies, although in some cases NSF may fund portions of
work described in an overlapping proposal provided that the budgets appropriately
allocate costs among the various sponsors. IF A PROPOSER FAILS TO
DISCLOSE EQUIVALENT OR OVERLAPPING PROPOSALS AS
PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION, THE PROPOSER COULD BE LIABLE
FOR ADMINISTRATIVE, CIVIL, OR CRIMINAL SANCTIONS [bold, red
caps in original.]

See also Part 10 of the NSF Instructions concerning Phase Il proposals.
34, Additionally, upon information and belief, the Phase I proposal used by each

awarding agency asks the applicant to certify that it is not seeking duplicate funding.
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